RECEIVED

09-22-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2016AP000937 CR

ROY MITCHELL,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal from the Circuit Court for Dane County The Honorable David T. Flanagan, Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 15CF1123

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Community Justice, Inc. Attorney Frances Reynolds Colbert State Bar #1050435 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

1) Did the circuit court err when it ordered restitution for medical bills sustained as a result of an altercation when all charges relating to the altercation were dismissed?

The trial court answered no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant believes that the Court can decide the issues based on the briefs, but welcomes the opportunity for oral argument if the Court has questions not resolved by the briefs. Publication is not warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 2, 2015, the State filed a complaint alleging that on May 23, 2015, the defendant, Lisa (Roy) Mitchell, committed: (1) Felony Strangulation and Suffocation, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.235(1); (2) Misdemeanor Battery, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1); Misdemeanor Theft in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a); and (4) Misdemeanor Obstructing an Officer in violation of Wis. Stat. § 946.41(1), all charged as repeaters. (R2; A.App. 101).

A preliminary hearing was held on July 21, 2015 (R35; A.App. 119). At the preliminary hearing, the officer investigating the case testified to the events as they were reported to him by the alleged victim. (R35). Although not called as a witness, Ms. Mitchell offered her version of events as well. (R35:16-18; A. App. 120-21). In summary, Ms. Mitchell explained to the court that the alleged victim, JC, wanted to buy sex from her and then refused to pay. (R35:16;

1

¹ The defendant is transgendered and identifies as female. Court documents and the State refer to her using male pronouns. Undersigned counsel will use female pronouns in this brief and any other documents submitted to the Court.

A.App.120). CL got aggressive with her, beat her up and she fought back. (R35:17; A.App. 121). Not withstanding her statement, the court found probable cause to bind her over for trial and State filed an Information with the same counts alleged in the complaint, with the exception that count 3 was changed from Misdemeanor Theft to Felony Theft from a Person in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20(1)(a). (R9).

On November 23, 2015, the State filed an Amended Information adding count 5, Misdemeanor Theft in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.20 and count 6, Prostitution (misdemeanor) in violation of Wis. Stat. § 944.30(1m)(a). (R18). On the same day, Ms. Mitchel plead to counts 4, 5 and 6 and counts 1, 2 and 3 were dismissed. (R19). Explaining the deal, the deputy district attorney stated:

I believe we have the matter resolved. There's been a substantial amount of follow up investigation, which shed new light on the facts and circumstances here, as a result of which we have tendered an Amended Information to the court.

Specifically, the state is agreeing to dismiss the charge of strangulation, misdemeanor battery, and I believe the felony theft charge, which would be counts 1, 2, 3 in the current information, in exchange for which the defendant will withdraw his plea of not guilty and enter a plea of guilty to obstructing as a repeater.

Additionally, the state has added two other charges reflective of the circumstances herein, and that is that a count of misdemeanor theft, because some money that exchanged hands here not voluntarily, and we have added a charge of solicitation of prostitution count....

(R36:2-3; A.App.122-23).

The court found a factual basis for the pleas based on Ms. Mitchell's statements that the allegations contained in counts 4, 5, and 6 of the Amended Information were true. (R36:9). The court sentenced Ms. Mitchell to nine months in the Dane County Jail on each of the three misdemeanor

counts that she plead to, all counts concurrent to one another and ordered Ms. Mitchell to pay court costs. (R36:11-12; R21; A.App. 105). The circuit court made no mention of restitution, nor was it written in the plea waiver or questionnaire. (R36).

On December 3, 2016, the State proposed an order for restitution in the amount of \$12,683.43, including \$11,059.43 in medical bills paid out for JC's injuries by Crime Victim Compensation. (R22; R23). On December 7, 2015, counsel for the defendant sent a letter to the court stating that the defendant did not agree with the proposed order. (R24; A.App. 109-18). The defense argued that as a result of the plea agreement in which the strangulation, battery and theft of a person charges were dismissed, the "crimes considered at sentencing' did not result in 'bodily injury' to the victim." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(3)." (R24:1; A.App. 109). The defense further argued that that the dismissed charges were not "read-in." (R24:2; A.App. 109). The defense conceded that Ms. Mitchell owed restitution in the amount of \$393. (R24:2; A.App. 110).

On December 10, 2015, Ms. Mitchell sent a follow-up letter to the court, reiterating that she did not agree with the proposed restitution order. (R25:1-2; A.App. 111-2). She attached email correspondence between her attorney and the district attorney's office, including a statement made by the deputy district attorney that "the follow-up investigation has confirmed [Ms. Mitchell's] version of events." (R25:6; A. App. 116).

The court scheduled a hearing for January 15, 2016, however, Ms. Mitchell was unable to attend due to illness. (R37:2). Counsel for the parties laid out their positions, with defense counsel reiterating that the dismissed charges were a result of self-defense and not any of the crime for which she was convicted. (R37) The parties agreed to set over the restitution hearing, with a stipulation that Crime Victim Compensation did in fact pay out monies to the alleged victim in the amount claimed and that the defendant did owe the victim \$393 in restitution. (R37:8, 12-14). The parties

agreed that issue of whether the medical bills were subject to restitution was a legal issue. (R37:13-14).

The set-over restitution hearing occurred on March 15, 2016. (R38; A.App. 127). The alleged victim did not come to the hearing and no other evidence was presented. (R38; A.App. 127). After hearing argument by the parties, the judge ordered restitution in the amount \$393 for property damage and \$11,059.43 in medical bills. (R38:10; A.App. 138; R30; A.App. 107).

Ms. Mitchell wrote the court requesting a modification of the restitution order and the court denied the request. (R31; R32). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT: The circuit court erred when it ordered Ms. Mitchell to pay the victim's medical bills because they were not related to any crime for which she was convicted.

A restitution order is reviewed under the erroneous exercise of discretion. *State v. Haase*, 2006 WI App 86, ¶5, 293 Wis. 2d 322, 716 N.W.2d 526. A trial court erroneously exercises its discretion when its decision is based on an error of law. *Id.* Whether the trial court is authorized to order restitution pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.20 under a certain set of facts presents a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *Id.*

A. The Law on Restitution

Wis. Stat. § 973.20 authorizes the trial court to order restitution. Section 973.20(1r) provides that the court "shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution under this section to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing ... unless the court finds substantial reason not to do so and states the reason on the record." The phrase "[c]rime considered at sentencing" is defined as "any crime for which the defendant was convicted and any read-in crime." Wis. Stat. § 973.20(1g)(a).

1. The claimant must be a victim of the crime(s) considered at sentencing.

Consistent with this statutory language, case law illustrates that restitution is unlawful when the claimant was not a victim of a crime considered at sentencing. This is true even in instances when the claimant was present and suffered losses as a result of the criminal activity. For example, in State v. Lee, 2008 WI App 185, ¶¶2-5, 5314 Wis. 2d 764, 762 N.W.2d 431, an officer was injured while pursuing a person eventually convicted of armed robbery. The defendant was not convicted of fleeing an officer, assaulting an officer, or any crime related to his flight from the officer. Accordingly, the officer was not a victim of a crime considered at sentencing, and neither he nor the insurance company that paid expenses related to his injuries could receive restitution. Id. In another example, State v. Schmaling, 198 Wis.2d 756, 758-62, 543 N.W.2d 555 (Ct.App.1995), the defendant was charged with seven felonies for causing an accident that led a semitanker to burst into flames on the highway. Id. The defendant plead to second-degree reckless homicide and second-degree recklessly endangering safety. Id. Restitution was denied for county for firefighting costs because the county was not a victim of second-degree reckless homicide and second-degree recklessly endangering safety. Id. The law is clear that only the victim of a crime considered at sentencing can claim restitution.

2. There must be a causal connection between the crime(s) considered at sentencing and the disputed damage.

Before a trial court may order restitution, a causal nexus must be established between the crime considered at sentencing and the disputed damage. *State v. Canady*, 234 Wis. 2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147 (Wis. App. 2000). A causal link for restitution is established when the defendant's criminal acts set into motion that resulted in the damage. *Id.* There must be a showing that the defendant's criminal activity was a substantial factor in causing the pecuniary injury to the victim in a "but for" sense. *State v. Johnson*, 2005 WI App 201, 287 Wis. 2d 381, 704 N.W. 2d 625. "Substantial factor" denotes that the defendant's conduct has

such an effect in producing the harm as to lead the trier of fact to regard it as a cause, using that word in the popular sense. *Id.*

This principal is illustrated in *State v. Rash*, 2003 WI App 32, 260 Wis. 2d 369, 659 N.W.2d 189. In this case, the defendant was convicted of armed robbery. *Id.*, ¶2. The victim in this case was abducted, at gun point, just after he had unlocked his car. *Id.* The defendant drove off with the victim and robbed him, leaving the victim's car unlocked. *Id.* The unlocked car was then stolen by someone other than the defendant, who damaged it and stole property from within it. *Id.* The defendant was liable for restitution for the damage to the car and the lost property even though he had not directly caused the damage because but for the defendant's crime, the damage and property loss would not have occurred. *Id.*, ¶8.

B. Under Wisconsin law, the restitution order for JC's medical bills is unlawful.

Under the plain language of the statute, restitution in this case can only be ordered for crimes considered at sentencing — the misdemeanor theft, the obstruction and the prostitution. There is no possible argument that JC was a victim of the obstruction, a crime against government and its administration, or the prostitution, a crime against sexual morality. Thus, they are not an appropriate basis for a restitution order. The only crime that could form a basis for the restitution in this case is the misdemeanor theft.

Physical injury is not a natural consequence of misdemeanor theft. The record shows all criminal allegations regarding physical injury or contact were dismissed after a follow-up investigation showed that they were unfounded. The altercation that led to the injuries occurred around the same time as the theft, but temporal connection does not amount to the required causal nexus. The fact that it was determined that Ms. Mitchell was not criminally liable for the injuries sustained by JC eviscerates any argument that the theft could have somehow caused the injuries. There is

nothing in the record that suggests in any way that the physical injuries were caused by the theft.

CONCLUSION

Ms. Mitchell was ordered to pay restitution for injuries that were not related to any crime for which she was convicted. Accordingly, the order for restitution was unlawful.

Therefore, for the above stated reasons, the Defendant respectfully requests that this Court vacate the circuit court's order for restitution as it applies to JC's medical expenses.