RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-12-2017 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF COU

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2016AP937-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ROY A MITCHELL JR,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 12, THE HONORABLE DAVID T. FLANAGAN, PRESIDING

Matthew D. Moeser
Deputy District Attorney
Dane County, Wisconsin
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
State Bar No. 1034198

215 South Hamilton Street
Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000
Madison, WI 53703
Telephone: (608)266-4211

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Did the Circuit Court err when it ordered restitution in this case?

Circuit Court Answer: No.

STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On 2, 2015, Plaintiff-Respondent State June Wisconsin ("State") filed a Criminal Complaint in Dane County Circuit Court charging Defendant-Appellant Roy A. Mitchell ("Mitchell") with four criminal offenses, to-wit: Strangulation and Suffocation as Habitual Criminal а contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.235(1) and 939.62(1)(b); Battery as a Habitual Criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.19(1) and 939.62(1)(a); Theft as a Habitual Criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.20(1)(a) and (3)(a), and 939.62(1)(a); and Obstructing an Officer as a Habitual Criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. § § 946.41(1) 939.62(1)(a). (R2:1-2).

As outlined in the Criminal Complaint, each of these offenses grew out of an incident between Mitchell and a person identified for purposes of this brief as JC. (R2:2) JC indicated that he intended to give Mitchell \$5 but that Mitchell grabbed JC's wallet and removed approximately \$500 in U.S. Currency. JC chased Mitchell and caught up to Mitchell, at which point he grabbed Mitchell. Mitchell then picked up a stick and began to strike JC and then strangled JC. The Obstructing charge emanated from

Mitchell lying to a police officer about Mitchell's name.
R2:3).

On July 21, 2015, following a preliminary examination, the State filed an Information that altered Count Two, Theft as a Habitual Criminal, to a charge of Theft from Person as a Habitual Criminal contrary Wis. Stat. §§ 943.20(1)(a) and (3)(e), and 939.62(1)(b). (R9:2).

On November 23, 2015, the State filed an amended information that added Count 5 - Theft as a Habitual Criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 943.20(1)(a) and (3)(a), and 939.62(1)(a) - and Count 6 - Prostitution - Nonmarital Sexual Intercourse as a Habitual Criminal contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 944.30(1m)(a) and 939.62(1)(a). Mitchell pled guilty to these charges as well as count 3 - Obstructing an Officer as a Habitual Criminal. As part of a plea agreement, the State moved to dismiss the other counts and Judge David T. Flanagan sentenced the defendant to nine months' in the county jail on each of the three crimes of conviction. 1

^{&#}x27;Judge Flanagan presided over the plea and sentencing as well as the restitution hearings. Judge Flanagan retired in July 2016 and Governor Scott Walker appointed Judge Clayton Kawski to replace Judge Flanagan.

On December 7, 2015, the State submitted a proposed restitution order to Judge Flanagan seeking restitution for property losses suffered by JC and to recoup payments for medical bills made on JC's behalf by the Crime Victim Compensation Program. See Wis. Stat. Chapter Subchapter I. (R23). Mitchell and his attorney objected. (R24, 25). Judge Flanagan held a restitution hearing on January 15, 2016. At that hearing, the State informed Judge Flanagan that both JC and representatives of the Crime Victim Compensation Program were present. (R37:3-5). Judge Flanagan indicated that the more serious question as compared to the amounts of any category of damage - was whether he could order restitution based on the crimes considered at sentencing. (R37:4-5, 9-10). The parties discussed that there was no dispute what Crime Victim Compensation has paid out for medical bills incurred by JC but that losses of property, beyond \$393 dollars, by JC was still in dispute. (R37: 9-14).

JC did not appear at the next restitution hearing held on March 15, 2015. Following argument by the parties, Judge Flanagan held that JC could only recover \$393 of lost property but that Crime Victim Compensation was entitled to restitution for medical bills, "It's sufficiently related

to the course of conduct that lead [sic] to the arrest and lead [sic] to the convictions that it's a close call." (R38:10). Following this hearing, the State submitted, and Judge Flanagan signed, an order for restitution awarding JC \$393 and Crime Victim Compensation \$11,059.43 (R30).

ARGUMENT

Judge Flanagan Properly Exercised his Discretion in Awarding Restitution.

1. Standard of Review.

A request for restitution, including the calculation as to the appropriate amount of restitution, is addressed to the circuit court's discretion and its decision will only be disturbed when there has been an erroneous exercise of that discretion. See State v. Madlock, 230 Wis.2d 324, 329, 602 N.W.2d 104 (Ct.App.1999). A circuit court's "assessment of restitution is within its discretion; whether a restitution order comports with the [restitution] statute however, is subject to our de novo review." State v. Rash, 2003 WI App 32, ¶5, 260 Wis.2d 369, 659 N.W.2d 189 (emphasis in original). Restitution is governed by Wis. Stat. § 973.20 and directs that circuit courts "shall order the defendant to make full or partial restitution ... to any victim of a crime considered at sentencing," with crime

considered at sentencing further defined as "any crime for which the defendant was convicted and any read-in crime." Wis. Stat. §§ 973.20(1r), (1g)(a). Wis. Stat. § 973.20(5)(d) allows a court to order reimbursement to a person who has compensated a victim or a loss "otherwise compensable under this section."

2. Judge Flanagan Correctly Found That There was a Casual Nexus Between Mitchell's Conduct and JC's Losses.

The State construes Mitchell's challenge to Judge Flanagan's order as whether Judge Flanagan had the legal authority to order restitution related to JC's medical bills. Wisconsin courts employ a two factor test determine if they have the authority to order restitution. First, the person for whom restitution is sought must be entitled to it. See State v. Hoseman, 2011 WI App 88, ¶ 16, 334 Wis.2d 415, 799 N.W.2d 479. Second, there must be a causal nexus between the defendant's conduct and the harm suffered by the victim to which the restitution addressed. See id. The primary purpose of the restitution statute is to compensate victims and courts therefore construe Wis. Stat. § 973.20 "broadly and liberally in order to allow victims to recover their losses as a result

of a defendant's criminal conduct." State v. Canady, 2000 WI App 87, ¶8, 234 Wis.2d 261, 610 N.W.2d 147.

Wisconsin law does not require that a specific element of a crime considered at sentencing result in the loss to a victim. Instead, Wisconsin courts have taken a more global view of how criminal conduct results in losses to a victim. In Rash, the defendant and other co-criminals abducted the victim who had just unlocked his car. A person who had no apparent connection to Rash or his co-criminals stole the car, damaged the car, and stole the victim's possessions that were in the car. See Rash, 2003 WI App 32, \P 9-3. This Court upheld the circuit court's restitution order because it concluded that the defendant's actions abducting the victim - left the car vulnerable to theft and damage, which were clear consequences of what Rash had done. See id., $\P\P$ 3, 8. The Rash court held that a defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing a victim's losses when "the defendant's criminal act set into motion events that resulted in damage or injury." Id., ¶7.

In Canady, a police officer arrested the defendant as a suspected burglar and, in the course of the arrest, pulled a pry bar out of the defendant's jacket and threw it out of reach, resulting in a cracked glass door. See

Canady, 2000 WI App 87, \P 2. Even though the officer's actions were the immediate or direct cause of a victim's damage, this Court still held that the defendant was obligated to pay restitution for the door because his "criminal actions were not too remote to constitute a substantial factor in causing the property damage." Id., \P 12.

In Hoseman, a defendant who had rendered an 1885 Victorian home uninhabitable as a result a marijuana growing operation was required to pay restitution, even though his only conviction was for conspiracy to manufacture tetrahydrocannabinols through а marijuana growing operation. See Hoseman, 2011 WI App 88, ¶¶1-3. This Court rejected Hoseman's argument that his crime was "victimless." See id., $\P\P$ 23-24. This Court also concluded that Hoseman's conduct was a substantial factor in causing the victims' damages. See id., ¶ 26.

Collectively, Rash, Canady, and Hoseman support Judge Flanagan's exercise of discretion in this case. Those cases establish that a court need not tether restitution to a specific element of a crime considered at sentencing, that a court does not need to determine whether a defendant should have foreseen a victim's losses, and that even a

"victimless crime" may result in victim's who suffer losses that are subject to compensation under Wis. Stat. § 973.20.

Mitchell's criminal conduct in stealing from JC, likely in the aftermath of a solicitation for prostitution, was a substantial factor in causing JC's losses, including those compensated by the Crime Victim Compensation program. JC's injuries resulted from him confronting Mitchell after the theft and attempting to secure the return of his property.² There is no requirement that JC's injuries be foreseeable by Mitchell. Nor does it matter that Mitchell was not convicted of a crime of violence nor that no such crime was read in. Wisconsin law allows courts to take a retrospective view of episodes of criminal conduct and use hindsight to determine if they should order restitution. That is what Judge Flanagan did in this case and his exercise of discretion was well within the boundaries of his authority.

CONCLUSION

Upon the record in this matter, and for the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests this Court to affirm the circuit court's decision.

²The State does not contend that the Obstructing charge bears any causal nexus to JC's losses.